
































conduct business in this State, with its principal office at 301 W Main Street, Durham, North
Carolina.

4. Upon information and belief, Defendant SHCU is a debt collector within the meaning
of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(3), an entity engaging, directly or indirectly, in debt collection from a
consumer.

5. Upon information and belief, the Defendant RoundPoint Mortgage Servicing
Corporation (“Defendant RoundPoint™) is a Florida corporation duly authorized to conduct
business in this State, with its principal North Carolina office at 5032 Parkway Plaza Boulevard,
Suite 200, Charlotte, North Carolina.

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant RoundPoint is a debt collector within the
meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a, an entity that uses the instrumentalities of interstate commerce or
the mails in a business the principal purpose of which is the collection of debts and that regularly
collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or
due another.

7. Upon information and belief, Defendant RoundPoint is also a collection agency
within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 58-70-15 and 58-70-90(1), as (i) an entity directly or
indirectly engaged in soliciting, from more than one person, delinquent claims of any kind owed
or due or asserted to be owed or due the solicited person, and (i) an entity directly or indirectly
engaged in the asserting, enforcing or prosecuting of those claims; or, in the alternative,
Defendant RoundPoint is a debt collector within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(3), an
entity engaging, directly or indirectly, in debt collection from a consumer.

8. Upon information and belief, the Defendant Five Brothers Mortgage Company

Services and Securing Inc. (“Defendant Five Brothers™) is a Michigan corporation duly



authorized to conduct business in this State, with its principal office at 14156 Eleven Mile Road,
Warren, Michigan.

9. Upon information and belief, Defendant Five Brothers is a debt collector within the
meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a, an entity that uses the instrumentalities of interstate commerce or
the mails in a business the principal purpose of which is the collection of debts and that regularly
collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or
due another.

10. Upon information and belief, Defendant Five Brothers is also a collection agency
within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 58-70-15 and 58-70-90(1), as (i) an entity directly or
indirectly engaged in soliciting, from more than one person, delinquent claims of any kind owed
or due or asserted to be owed or due the solicited person, and (7i) an entity directly or indirectly
engaged in the asserting, enforcing or prosecuting of those claims; or, in the alternative,
Defendant Five Brothers is a debt collector within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(3), an
entity engaging, directly or indirectly, in debt collection from a consumer.

11. At all times relevant to the causes of action herein, Defendant Five Brothers acted as
an authorized agent of Defendant RoundPoint.

12. Upon information and belief, the Defendant Douglas Allan Stuart a/k/a “D.A. Stuart”
(“Defendant Stuart”) is a resident and citizen of Wayne County, North Carolina, residing at 408
S William Street, Goldsboro, North Carolina.

13. Upon information and belief, Defendant Stuart is a debt collector within the meaning
of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a, a person who uses the instrumentalities of interstate commerce or the

mails in a business the principal purpose of which is the collection of debts and who regularly



collects or attempts to collect, directly or indirectly, debts owed or due or asserted to be owed or
due another.

14. Upon information and belief, Defendant Stuart is also a collection agency within the
meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 58-70-15 and 58-70-90(1), as (i) a person directly or indirectly
engaged in soliciting, from more than one person, delinquent claims of any kind owed or due or
asserted to be owed or due the solicited person, and (ii) a person directly or indirectly engaged in
the asserting, enforcing or prosecuting of those claims; or, in the alternative, Defendant Stuart is
a debt collector within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(3), a person engaging, directly or
indirectly, in debt collection from a consumer.

15. At all times relevant to the causes of action herein, Defendant Stuart acted as an
employee and authorized agent of Defendant Five Brothers, and acted within the scope of his

employment.

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

16. This Court has personal jurisdiction over the Defendants under N.C. Gen. Stat. § 1-

75.4.

17. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction under, inter alia, N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 7A-240
and 7A-243.
18. Venue in this Court is proper under N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 1-79, 1-80, and 1-82.
IIl. FACTS
19. The Plaintiff Annette M. Hayes purchased her principal residence, located at 3402-A

Wescott Drive in Wilson, North Carolina, on or about 17 April 2003.



20. Plaintiff has resided in her Wescott Drive home exclusively and continuously
throughout the ten (10) years that have elapsed since her initial purchase, except for those
periods detailed herein where Defendants forcibly obstructed her from accessing the premises.

21. The most recent tax value for Plaintiff’s home is $87,967.00 in 2012, according to the
Wilson County Tax Administration.

22. The purchase price of Plaintiff’s residence was financed through a 30-year mortgage
with Defendant SHCU, which recorded a Deed of Trust to the property at book 1949 and page
349 of the Wilson County Registry.

23. Upon information and belief, at some point after entering into the mortgage with
Plaintiff, Defendant SHCU assigned the right to collect payments under the mortgage to servicer
SunTrust Mortgage, Inc.

24. After being laid off from Merck Pharmaceuticals in February 2006 and enduring
long-term unemployment, Plaintiff briefly fell behind on her mortgage payments. In August
2008, Plaintiff obtained a loan from the North Carolina Housing Finance Agency (“NCHFA™)
and the state’s newly created North Carolina Foreclosure Prevention Fund (“the Fund”) to fully
reinstate her mortgage.

25. The Fund is financed by grant money from the United States Department of the
Treasury’s “Hardest Hit Fund,” and is administered by the NCHFA under the authority of N.C.
Gen. Stat. § 45-104.

26. The Fund provides interest-free loans to homeowners facing foreclosure, serving to
bring current and reinstate the mortgages of those homeowners by tendering “catch up”

payments directly to the mortgagee. The program requires applicants to meet certain eligibility



requirements, including “hav[ing] satisfactory mortgage payment history.” A copy of the

informational flyer produced by NCHFA for the Fund is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit A.

27. As part of the agreement with the Fund, the NCHFA acquires a subordinate mortgage
interest in the recipient homeowner’s residence. The recipient homeowner must repay the
monies loaned to him or her by the Fund unless the homeowner continues to reside in the home
for a period of ten (10) years.

28. As part of the terms of Plaintiff’s 2008 agreement with NCHFA and the Fund,
NCHFA obtained a subordinate mortgage interest in the Wescott Drive propérty and recorded a
subsidiary Deed of Trust at book 2330 and page 843 of the Wilson County Registry.

29. The loan provided by the Fund brought current Plaintiff’s mortgage with Defendant
SHCU, and Plaintiff continued to make her regular mortgage payments as agreed.

30. According to Defendants’ own records, it is undisputed that Plaintiff’s mortgage was
current through at least 31 August 2009.

31. On or about 24 September 2009, the mortgage servicer for Plaintiff’s mortgage was
arbitrarily changed to Defendant RoundPoint effective 01 October 2009. The initial letter to
Plaintiff from Defendant RoundPoint noting the change in mortgage servicer is attached hereto

as Plaintiff’s Exhibit B.

32. Beginning with that changeover in mortgage servicer, repeated problems occurred in
having Plaintiff’s mortgage payments properly credited.

33. Defendant RoundPoint contended in a subsequent letter it sent to Plaintiff that
Plaintiff>s mortgage was already in default at the time Defendant RoundPoint acquired the right
to collect payments under the mortgage’s terms, claiming “[a]s of January 06, 2010, your home

loan is 127. [sic] days in default” (meaning Plaintiff’s account was allegedly in default as of 01



September 2009). This subsequent letter to Plaintiff from Defendant RoundPoint noting the

alleged default date is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit C.

34. Despite repeated ongoing efforts by Plaintiff to have her account corrected, including
numerous phone calls to Defendant RoundPoint made without resolution, Defendant RoundPoint
filed a foreclosure action on Defendant SHCU’s behalf dated 09 June 2010 under Wilson County
File No. 10 SP 267 (“the foreclosure action™).

35. Two weeks after initiating the foreclosure action, in response to Plaintiff’s repeated
good faith efforts to resolve the discrepancies surrounding her mortgage, Defendant RoundPoint
agreed to a modified repayment schedule that it confirmed in a letter to Plaintiff dated 22 June
2010. The letter containing the signed repayment plan documentation is attached hereto as

Plaintiff’s Exhibit D.

36. The modified repayment schedule provided that the July 2010 mortgage payment
would be due by 10 July 2010.

37. Plaintiff complied with the modified repayment schedule, mailing the required July
2010 payment on 08 July 2010 via United States Postal Service Certified Mail, Article No. 7003
1680 0004 9730 4882, to the address designated by Defendant RoundPoint; the required payment
arrived on 09 July 2010, a day before it was due. The Certified Mail receipt and a printout of the

delivery confirmation are attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit E and Plaintiff’s Exhibit F,

respectively (account information has been redacted as required by statute; an unredacted copy is
available).

38. Despite Plaintiff’s compliance with the mutually agreed modified repayment schedule
offered by Defendant RoundPoint, Defendant RoundPoint nonetheless proceeded with the

foreclosure action on behalf of Defendant SHCU and, at a foreclosure hearing on 15 July 2010,



successfully obtained an Order for foreclosure entered on that date. A copy of the Order is

attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit G.

39. That same day, Defendant RoundPoint filed a Notice of Sale scheduling a sale date of
13 October 2010 for the sale of Plaintiff’s principal residence. A copy of the first Notice of Sale

1s attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit H.

40. Plaintiff repeatedly contacted Defendant RoundPoint for explanation of why she was
receiving a Notice of Sale, and was advised by Defendant RoundPoint that her loan was again in
default because Defendant RoundPoint had purportedly not received the July 2010 loan payment
on time per the modified repayment schedule. The documentation contained in Plaintiff’s
Exhibits E-F, supra, was provided to Defendant RoundPoint by Plaintiff but Defendant
RoundPoint ignored the documentation.

41. Inexplicably rebuffed by Defendant RoundPoint despite the undisputed records of the
U.S. Postal Service, Plaintiff then contacted Defendant SHCU directly for assistance as the
lender from which she originally obtained her mortgage. On or about 16 July 2010, Defendant
SHCU apparently had intervened on Plaintiff’s behalf, as Plaintiff received a telephone call from
an employee of Defendant RoundPoint named “Mr. D’Oleo” who claimed to be the Loss
Mitigation Department supervisor, apologized for the error, claimed any late fees charged to
Plaintiff would be waived, insisted all funds paid would be properly credited to Plaintiff’s
account, and assured Plaintiff the foreclosure action would be dismissed.

42. Continuing to make mortgage payments as scheduled, Plaintiff continued to endure
incomprehensible errors by Defendant RoundPoint in properly crediting her mortgage payments
and in continuing to pursue foreclosure proceedings that Plaintiff had been assured were abated

as a result of her compliance with the repayment plan: Defendant RoundPoint filed an Amended



Notice of Sale on 6 October 2010 with a sale date of 26 October 2010, then filed a third and
fourth Amended Notice of Sale on 10 December 2010 and 14 December 2010, respectively, both
with a sale date of 05 January 2011. The second, third, and fourth Notices of Sale are attached

hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit I (second) and Plaintiff’s Exhibit J (third and fourth), respectively,

along with the corresponding Affidavits of Publication.

43. On 05 January 2011, despite the various accounting failures of Defendant SHCU and
Defendant RoundPoint and the subsequent assurances made to Plaintiff regarding corrective
action, the foreclosure sale of Plaintiff’s primary residence took place. Her home was sold at
public auction to Defendant SHCU, the sole bidder, for a sum of $53,550.00. Upset bids were

permitted through 18 January 2011 as provided by N.C. Gen. Stat. § 45-21.27. A copy of the

Report of Foreclosure Sale / Resale is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit K.

44. Faced with no other recourse despite her repeated efforts to have her account properly
credited, Plaintiff filed for Chapter 13 bankruptcy protection on 18 January 2011. A notice by
Defendant RoundPoint suspending foreclosure-related activity as a result of the bankruptcy’s
automatic stay provision was filed on 24 January 2011.

| 45. Plaintiff made payments to the Bankruptcy Trustee as required under her Chapter 13
filing from the time the bankruptcy proceedings commenced, with the Bankruptcy Trustee
periodically disbursing a total of $11,649.28 to Defendant RoundPoint from 18 January 2011

through 04 October 2012. A copy of the Bankruptcy Trustee’s final report reflecting the

$11,649.28 in disbursements to Defendant RoundPoint is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit L.
46. In addition to her bankruptcy-related payments, in early 2012 Plaintiff applied for a

second loan from NCHFA and the Fund.



47. NCHFA contacted Defendant RoundPoint to obtain a reinstatement quote as part of
Plaintiff’s application process.

48. On or about 11 May 2012, Defendant RoundPoint advised NCHF A that a payment of
$13,745.09 would bring Plaintiff’s account current and fully reinstate her mortgage. Defendant
RoundPoint further advised the reinstatement quote provided would be valid through 30 June
2012.

49. In a letter dated 24 May 2012, NCHFA notified Plaintiff that her application had been
approved and the Fund would tender a one-time reinstatement payment of $14,582.12 directly to
Defendant RoundPoint to reinstate Plaintiff’s mortgage: the full amount of the $13,745.09
reinstatement quote provided by Defendant RoundPoint, and an additional amount of $837.03 for
Plaintiff’s July 2012 mortgage payment. As a result of the payment that would be tendered by
NCHFA directly to Defendant RoundPoint, the next mortgage payment to be made by Plaintiff
would be for August 2012. The approval letter from NCHFA to Plaintiff is attached hereto as

Plaintiff’s Exhibit M.

50. As part of the terms of Plaintiff’s new 2012 loan agreement with NCHFA and the
Fund, NCHFA obtained an additional interest in the Wescott Drive property and recorded a
second subsidiary Deed of Trust at book 2487 and page 452 of the Wilson County Registry.

51. On or about 1 June 2012, well before the 30 Junec 2012 deadline in the reinstatement
quote provided to NCHFA by Defendant RoundPoint, the anticipated payment was in fact made
by NCHFA and accepted by Defendant RoundPoint. The check date and funds paid are reflected
in the Form 1098-MA tax documentation furnished by NCHFA to Plaintiff for the 2012 tax year.

A copy of the Form 1098-MA is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit N (account information

has been redacted as required by statute; an unredacted copy is available).
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52. NCHFA records indicate the reinstatement check, paid directly to Defendant
RoundPoint, was cashed by Defendant RoundPoint on or about 25 June 2013 — well before the
deadline in the reinstatement quote provided.

53. As a result of the combined $26,231.40 paid to Defendant RoundPoint between both
NCHFA and the Bankruptcy Trustee, Plaintiff’s mortgage was unquestionably brought current in
July 2012. NCHFA records indicate Plaintiff’s next payment was to be due in August 2012.

54. With Plaintiff’s mortgage brought current as part of the reinstatement quote provided
by Defendant RoundPoint and satisfied by NCHFA, the default giving rise to the 15 July 2010
foreclosure order ceased to exist.

55. In addition, having brought her mortgage current as a result of the NCHFA loan,
Plaintiff’s Chapter 13 bankruptcy was converted to a Chapter 7 bankruptcy in October 2012.

56. Plaintiff made timely payment of her August 2012 mortgage payment, mailing to
Defendant RoundPoint two checks totaling $832.00.

57. Yet in an inscrutable case of history repeating itself, Defendant RoundPoint again
claimed Plaintiff had somehow already instantaneously fallen into default: Defendant
RoundPoint advised Plaintiff that she was due to resume payments effective 1 July 2012, despite
the clear and unambiguous language of (i) the letter provided by NCHFA indicating the loan
payment from the Fund already included Plaintiff’s July 2012 mortgage payment, and (7i) the
online record system utilized by both NCHFA and Defendant RoundPoint, which contained a
“P record” indicating the next payment was in fact due 1 August 2012.

58. Defendant RoundPoint further claimed, in subsequent phone calls with Plaintiff, that
it purportedly had not received Plaintiff’s August 2012 mortgage payment at all — despite the

checks written for that payment being cashed by Defendant RoundPoint. Copies of the cancelled
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August 2012 checks cashed by Defendant RoundPoint are attached hereto as Plaintiff’s

Exhibit O and Plaintiff’s Exhibit P respectively (account information has been redacted as

required by statute; unredacted copies are available).

59. When Plaintiff advised Defendant RoundPoint that the August 2012 mortgage checks
had both been cashed, Defendant RoundPoint responded that the entirety of the $832.00 had
been applied to Plaintiff’s escrow account for the payment of property taxes. Yet Defendant
RoundPoint’s own documents suggest this claim was untruthful, as the copy of Plaintiff’s escrow
account activity sent by Defendant RoundPoint (i) reflects no such payments being applied to
escrow after September 2012, and (i) Defendant RoundPoint’s own escrow account projections
amounted to only $156.52 at the time the first check was cashed and another $156.52 at the time
the second check was cashed. A copy of the statement of Plaintiff’s escrow account activity and

projections, as provided by Defendant RoundPoint, is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit Q

(account information has been redacted as required by statute; an unredacted copy is available).

60. Compounding Defendant RoundPoint’s habitual and glaring errors in basic
mathematics and its steadfast refusal to properly credit Plaintiff’s account, upon information and
belief Defendant RoundPoint hired Defendant Five Brothers in February 2013 to “secure the
collateral” — Plaintiff’s home — on behalf of Defendant SHCU.

61. Giving new meaning to Defendant SHCU’s “self-help” moniker, Plaintiff returned
home from work on Friday 01 March 2013 to discover Defendant Five Brothers and its
employee-agent Defendant Stuart had trespassed upon Plaintiff’s property to install a coded

padlock on her door, locking her out of the premises in an unlawful self-help eviction.
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62. Plaintiff further discovered that Defendant Five Brothers and Defendant Stuart had
actually broken into her home and placed an outward-facing flyer on the interior of the front
window, secured with blue tape affixed to the rear of the flyer, which read:

FIVE BROTHERS MORTGAGE SERVICING & SECURING, INC
A PROPERTY PRESERVATION COMPANY
TO REPORT ANY PROBLEMS OR CONCERNS, PLEASE CALL:
(888) 542-8854

A scanned copy of the flyer posted to the window in Plaintiff’s home, including the blue

tape attached to the rear of the flyer demonstrating it was affixed from within Plaintiff’s home, is

attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit R.

63. Upon information and belief, prior to unlawfully breaking into Plaintiff’s home and
padlocking her door, Defendant Five Brothers and Defendant Stuart contacted at least two of
Plaintiff’s neighbors in The Pines and advised them that Plaintiff was delinquent on her
mortgage.

64. Locked out of her primary residence over the weekend without any access to her
personal belongings, Plaintiff contacted her former bankruptcy attorney for assistance.
Plaintiff’s former bankruptcy attorney in turn contacted the attorneys for Defendant RoundPoint.

65. In a return email bn 04 March 2013 to Plaintiff’s former bankruptcy attorney, the
attorneys for Defendant RoundPoint acknowledged that Defendant RoundPoint had unlawfully
locked Plaintiff out of her residence, noting “She [Plaintiff] has the right of possession whether
RP alleges she is in default or not[.]” The attorney further indicated Defendant RoundPoint
claimed the lockout was conducted because Plaintiff’s home was allegedly vacant — this, despite

the voluminous personal effects still in the residence and visible at the time Defendant Five
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Brothers and Defendant Stuart unlawfully broke into Plaintiff’s home. A copy of the email from
Defendant RoundPoint’s counsel to Plaintiff’s former bankruptcy attorney is attached hereto as

Plaintiff*s Exhibit S.

66. The attorneys for Defendant RoundPoint also provided the name and phone number
for an employee of Defendant RoundPoint for Plaintiff to contact to regain access to her
residence. Plaintiff called the number provided and, after repeated unsuccessful attempts to
reach her, was finally able to reenter her home several days later. Upon re-entering the premises,
Plaintiff discovered a sign-in sheet left on a countertop in the residence by Defendant Five
Brothers and Defendant Stuart after they unlawfully broke into Plaintiff’s home. A copy of the

sign-in sheet is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit T.

67. Astonishingly, Plaintiff arrived home mere days later on Sunday 17 March 2013 to
discover Defendant Five Brothers and Defendant Stuart had again unlawfully trespassed on her
land, again broken into her home, and again installed a second coded padlock in a second
unlawful self-help eviction.

68. Moreover, at some point between 17 March 2013 and 21 March 2013, Defendant
Stuart also contacted Wilson Energy (the local utility company owned and operated by the City
of Wilson), represented himself as District Attorney “D.A. Stuart,” and demanded the utility
services to Plaintiff’s residence be cut off.

69. Even assuming arguendo a colorable argument could be made by Defendant Five
Brothers and Defendant Stuart (no matter how implausible) that Plaintiff’s home and primary
residence of ten (10) years was somehow mystically vacant at the time of the Defendants first
unlawful trespass, break-in, and lockout — despite all the personal effects and accoutrements in

plain view at the time the Defendants broke into and entered Plaintiff’s home — no rational
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person could reasonably believe the home was still vacant after just being entered by the
homeowner less than two weeks prior, as a result of the padlock code being given to the
homeowner by the Defendants’ principal Defendant RoundPoint.

70. Such unlawful tactics are part of a pattern of misconduct by Defendant Five Brothers
and its employees nationwide, as reflected in the numerous civil suits filed against the company.

See, e.g., Forrest v. Green Tree Servicing LI.C, et. al., 13-CV-01525-ELH (S.D.Md. 2013)

(unlawful break-in and lockout); Kelly v. Five Brothers Mortgage Company Services and

Securing Inc, et. al., 12-CV-03952-DLI-LB (E.D.N.Y. 2012) (unlawful break-in, lockout, and

conversion of personal property); Andrews v. Bank of America, et. al., 9:12-CV-80540-DMM-

DLB (S.D.FL. 2012) (unlawful break-in, lockout, and terrorizing of homeowner by leaving

documents related to homicide investigation); Webb v. Green Tree Servicing LLC, 11-CV-

02105-ELH (S.D.Md. 2011) (unlawful threatened lockout); Bullard v. U.S. Bank NA, et. al., 10-

CV-00434-MCR-MD (N.D.FI. 2010) (unlawful lockout); Romeos v. Towne Mortgage Company,

et. al., 10-CV-13955-PJD-VMM (E.D.Mi. 2010) (unlawful lockout).

71. Following this second unlawful self-help eviction by Defendants, and while Plaintiff
was unable to access her principal residence, Defendant RoundPoint returned checks written by
Plaintiff for her September 2012, October 2012, and November 2012 mortgage payments in an
envelope postmarked 18 March 2013 addressed to Plaintiff’s (inaccessible) home. The enclosed
letter indicated Plaintiff owed $8,025.10 on her mortgage, a sum bearing no relation at all
whatsoever to anything even vaguely resembling mathematical reality for an account that had
just been brought current through July 2012 and for which an August 2012 payment of $832.00
had been cashed by Defendant RoundPoint. Copies of the envelope enclosing the returned

checks, the checks themselves, and the arrearage letter are each attached hereto as Plaintiff’s
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Exhibit U, Plaintiff’s Exhibit V, and Plaintiff’s Exhibit W, respectively (account information has

been redacted as required by statute; an unredacted copy is available).

72. Also on 18 March 2013, Defendant RoundPoint on behalf of Defendant SHCU filed a
new fifth Amended Notice of Sale for Plaintiff’s home, designating a sale date of 08 April 2013.
The Amended Notice of Sale was filed under the same file number as the foreclosure action and
its 15 July 2010 foreclosure Order, even though the default upon which the 2010 foreclosure was

premised had already been cured in July 2012 as a result of the loan by NCHFA and the Fund. A

copy of the fifth Notice of Sale is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit X.

73. On or about 21 March 2013, Plaintiff met with undersigned counsel to discuss how
best to address the foreclosure action and the repeated unlawful acts of Defendants.

74. Plaintiff learned her utilities had been disconnected later in the afternoon following
her 21 March 2013 meeting with counsel. Plaintiff contacted Wilson Energy to inquire as to
why her utility service had been cut off. During several phone calls between Plaintiff and
employees of Wilson Energy, Plaintiff was advised by a “Matt Nester” that a man identifying
himself as a District Attorney had called and demanded utility service be discontinued for
Plaintiff’s residence. Plaintiff asked for the number from which the call was made, and was
given the telephone number (910) 814-4500 (“the 910 number”).

75. The 910 number is the main telephone number for the District Attorney’s Office for
Judicial District 11A, where Vance Stewart is the elected District Attorney.

76. Judicial District 11 encompasses Lee, Harnett, and Johnston Counties, and is adjacent
to both Wilson County where Plaintiff resides and Wayne County where Defendant Stuart

resides.
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77. Terrified upon learning a neighboring District Attorney with whom she had no known
affiliation was now somehow involved in the bewildering array of complications surrounding her
home, Plaintiff again contacted Wilson Energy for more details. Amid several subsequent phone
calls, Plaintiff was advised that Wilson Energy did not have the phone number for the original
call in its phone logs and that the 910 number it had provided to Plaintiff was the result of a
Google search conducted by its employees in response to Plaintiff’s inquiries. Plaintiff was
further advised that, in response to her inquiries, personnel for Wilson Energy had contacted
District Attorney Stewart’s office at the 910 number and been advised by “D.A. Stewart” that his
office had never contacted them.

78. During one of the several phone calls with Wilson Energy, Plaintiff asked how it was
possible that someone other than Plaintiff had been permitted to shut off her utilities. She was
advised that Wilson Energy had a municipal policy allowing a party to cut off the utility services
of another in certain circumstances when certain identifying information is provided. Plaintiff
was further advised that Defendant Stuart — whose self-identification as “D.A. Stuart” when
calling Wilson Energy is phonetically identical to the “D.A. Stewart” of the 11A Judicial District
— had held himself out as an officer of the court and purportedly provided the information
required by the municipal policy.

79. Throughout Plaintiff’s 10-year use of Wilson Energy’s services, prior to Defendant
Stuart’s misrepresentation of himself as an officer of the court, (i) Plaintiff’s utilities had never
been disconnected, (ii) Plaintiff had been the only person to reside at the home, (7ii) Plaintiff had
been the only person to make payments on the Wilson Energy account, and (iv) Plaintiff had
been the only person to ever have any contact with Wilson Energy relating to Plaintiff’s utility

services.
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80. After chronically failing to respond to Plaintiff’s repeated desperate phone calls
seeking to regain access to her home, Defendant RoundPoint finally provided to Plaintiff the
access code to the second padlock on 1 April 2013.

81. Upon re-entering her unlit home Plaintiff discovered that, while she had been forcibly
blocked by Defendants from accessing the premises and the premises were under the exclusive
dominion and control of the Defendants, Defendants had (i) taped off her sinks, toilets, and other
utilities with tape from Defendant Five Brothers, (ii) removed Plaintiff’s numerous personal
effects from the cabinetry and placed them on the countertops, and (7ii) damaged Plaintiff’s hot
water heater which subsequently leaked all over Plaintiff’s carpentry. While somewhat dark due

to Plaintiff’s electricity having been disconnected, two pictures and a scanned copy of the tape

left by Defendants is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit Y, a picture of some of the personal
effects removed from the cabinetry and placed on the countertops is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s
Exhibit Z, and two pictures of the resulting water damage caused by the Defendants’ damage to

Plaintiff’s hot water heater is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit AA.

82. On 2 April 2013, Plaintiff’s undersigned counsel made application to the Wilson
County Superior Court pursuant to N.C. Gen. Stat. § 45-21.34 to enjoin the foreclosure action
and impending sale of Plaintiff’s home, and further moved to set aside the foreclosure action
entirely as the default upon which it was based had been cured nearly a year prior.

83. On 8 April 2013, a second foreclosure sale of Plaintiff’s home was conducted at
10:00am. The premises were again sold to Defendant SHCU as the sole bidder, and again for
less than the tax value of the home with a winning bid of $74,278.55. A copy of the second

Report of Foreclosure Sale / Resale is attached hereto as Plaintiff’s Exhibit BB.
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84. At 11:00am that same day, a temporary restraining order was entered by the Court
enjoining the transfer of title resulting from the foreclosure sale until the Court could hold a
hearing on Plaintiff’s dual motions relating to the foreclosure action.

85. A hearing on Plaintiff’s motions regarding the foreclosure action was held on 10 June
2013. At the conclusion of the hearing, Superior Court Judge Alma Hinton agreed with
Plaintiff’s contentions and granted both of Plaintiff’s motions, enjoining the transfer of title
resulting from the wrongful foreclosure sale and setting aside the 2010 foreclosure order.

86. At all times relevant to the causes of action herein, Plaintiff has never agreed to
vacate her home of ten (10) years nor has Plaintiff ever abandoned her home, voluntarily or
otherwise.

87. At all times relevant to the causes of action herein, Plaintiff has owned her home and
title to Plaintiff’s home has never been effectively transferred to anyone other than Plaintiff, as
the January 2011 foreclosure sale was blocked by Plaintiff’s Chapter 13 bankruptcy filing and
the April 2013 foreclosure sale was permanently enjoined by the Court.

88. Defendants committed their respective acts without legal authority, justification, or
excuse.

89. Defendants’ conduct exceeded that of mere debt collection, as the default giving rise
to the 2010 foreclosure order from which Defendants allegedly derived their legal authority had
long since been cured pursuant to the June 2012 reinstatement agreement between Defendant
RoundPoint and the NCHFA.

90. Defendants’ conduct was willful and wanton, as Defendants committed their
respective acts even after having been repeatedly notified by multiple parties — including at least

two attorneys, in addition to Plaintiff — that their conduct was unwarranted and unlawful.
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91. Defendants’ conduct, particularly the unlawful locking out of a homeowner from her
residence with no notice and based on an illegitimate claim of authority — turning the maxim “a
man’s home is his castle” on its head by twice invading Plaintiff’s “castle” without legal
justification — was extreme and outrageous so as to exceed all bounds of civilized society.

92. In the alternative, Defendants’ conduct was at least grossly negligent.

93. Plaintiff has suffered damages as a result of Defendants’ outrageous conduct,
including but not limited to: (i) physical damage caused by Defendants to Plaintifl’s premises
(including damage to the door, water heater, and carpet); (ii) funds expended to secure alternate
housing for the days she was forcibly prevented by Defendants from accessing her home;

(iii) funds expended to purchase clothes, toiletries, and other necessities during the protracted
period of time she was forcibly prevented by Defendants from accessing her belongings;

(iv) attorney fees Plaintiff incurred to prevent the wrongful foreclosure sale of her home;

(v) damage to her reputation and personal credit score as a result of Defendants’ failure to
properly handle Plaintiff’s mortgage account in accord with millennia-old principles of basic
mathematics; and (vi) the complete and total loss of the comfort and repose of Plaintiff’s
principal residence, knowing her home has been and can again be invaded at will by Defendants.

94. Plaintiff has suffered severe emotional distress as a result of Defendants’ outrageous
conduct, including severe anxiety and chronic insomnia when present in the home in which she
has resided for ten (10) years, totally unable to sleep in her own residence or enjoy the peace and
comfort of that residence knowing Defendants can and will invade her premises at any time

Defendants choose even if they lack legal authority to do so.
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IV. FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION:
WRONGFUL FORECLOSURE
(Defendants SHCU and RoundPoint)

95. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
94 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

96. Plaintiff’s residence was lawfully owned by her pursuant to a valid and enforceable
mortgage between her and Defendant SHCU entered on or about 17 April 2003.

97. Plaintiff was current in her payments pursuant to that mortgage agreement.

98. Plaintiff’s residence was nonetheless improperly foreclosed upon by Defendant
RoundPoint on behalf of Defendant SHCU, and was unlawfully sold on 8 April 2013.

99. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as detailed in
Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

V. SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION:

ATTEMPTED WRONGFUL FORECLOSURE
(Defendants SHCU and RoundPoint)

In the alternative, to the extent the Court concludes Defendants SHCU and RoundPoint
did not conduct a wrongful foreclosure:

100.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1
through 99 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

101.  Plaintiff’s residence was lawfully owned by her pursuant to a valid and
enforceable mortgage between her and Defendant SHCU entered on or about 17 April 2003.

102.  Plaintiff was current in her payments pursuant to that mortgage agreement.

103.  Plaintiff’s residence was nonetheless improperly foreclosed upon by Defendant

RoundPoint on behalf of Defendant SHCU, and was unlawfully sold on 8 April 2013.
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104.  While title to the home was not ultimately transferred, due solely to the successful
intervention of counsel that Plaintiff never should have been compelled to obtain, Plaintiff was
nonetheless damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct as detailed in Paragraphs 93-

94 supra.

VI. THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION:
ABUSE OF PROCESS
(Defendants SHCU and RoundPoint)

In the alternative, to the extent the Court concludes Defendants SHCU and RoundPoint
conducted neither a wrongful foreclosure nor an attempted wrongful foreclosure:

105.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1
through 104 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

106. Defendants committed acts in the use of legal process not proper in the regular
prosecution of the proceeding, including scheduling and conducting a foreclosure sale based on a
default that had been cured pursuant to a fulfilled reinstatement agreement with a state agency.

107.  Defendants had an ulterior purpose(s) or motive(s) in their conduct herein,
including the acquisition of property at less than its tax value and/or the hope Plaintiff would
vacate the premises as a result of Defendants’ continued unlawful harassment.

108.  Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as detailed in

Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

VII. FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
BREACH OF THE IMPLIED COVENANT OF GOOD FAITH AND FAIR DEALING
(Defendants SHCU and RoundPoint)

109. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

108 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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110. In North Carolina, every contract contains an implied covenant of good faith and
fair dealing that neither party will do anything that injures the right of the other to receive the
benefits of the agreement.

111. Plaintiff was party to a valid and enforceable mortgage contract with Defendant
SHCU, and with Defendant RoundPoint in its role as servicer, wherein Plaintiff could enjoy the
comfort and repose of her home unmolested by Defendants upon the making of adequate and
timely mortgage payments.

112. Plaintiff was further party to a separate valid and enforceable reinstatement contract
with Defendant RoundPoint, acting on behalf of Defendant SHCU, wherein Plaintiff’s mortgage
would be fully reinstated upon payment of $13,745.09 on or before 30 June 2013.

113. Defendants breached the terms of both of their respective contracts and the
covenants contained therein, by improperly foreclosing upon and unlawfully selling Plaintiff’s
home, as well as hiring agents to defame Plaintiff, trespass upon her lands twice, break into her
home twice, and lock her out twice.

114. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as detailed in
Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

VII. FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION:

UNJUST ENRICHMENT
(Defendants SHCU and RoundPoint)

In the alternative, to the extent the Court concludes Defendants SHCU and RoundPoint

did not breach their respective contractual obligations to Plaintiff:

115. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

114 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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116. Plaintiff conferred a benefit upon Defendants, in the form of a $14,582.12 payment
made to Defendants pursuant to a loan agreement with NCHFA and the Fund.

117. Defendants consciously accepted the benefit conferred by cashing the check.

118. Plaintiff did not confer the benefit gratuitously, but instead with the expectation her
mortgage would be fully reinstated.

119. Defendants did not fully reinstate Plaintiff’s mortgage and were unjustly enriched

as a result.

IX. SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
TRESPASS #1
(All Defendants)

120. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

119 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

121. Plaintiff vwas in lawful possession of her land and home throughout all of February
2013 and March 2013.

122. On or about 1 March 2013, Defendant Stuart intentionally entered upon Plaintiff’s
land without authorization and broke into Plaintiff’s home, acting within the scope of his

employment with Defendant Five Brothers and on behalf of Defendants RoundPoint and SHCU

as those Defendants’ authorized agent.

123. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as detailed in

Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

X. SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
TRESPASS #2
(All Defendants)

124. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

123 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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125. Plaintiff was in lawful possession of her land and home throughout all of February
2013 and March 2013,

126. On or about 17 March 2013, Defendant Stuart again intentionally entered upon
Plaintiff’s land for a second time without authorization and again broke into Plaintiff’s home,
acting within the scope of his employment with Defendant Five Brothers and on behalf of
Defendants RoundPoint and SHCU as those Defendants’ authorized agent.

127. Plainti{l was damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as detailed in
Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

XI. EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION:

FRAUD
(All Defendants)

128. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
127 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

129. Defendants made numerous false representations to multiple parties, including at
least: (i) representing to the Court that the default originally giving rise to the 2010 foreclosure
order still existed; (ii) representing to Plaintiff, her neighbors, and her attorneys that Plaintiff was
delinquent on her mortgage; and (iii) representing to Wilson Energy that Defendant Stuart was
an officer of the court and that cause existed to have Plaintiff’s utility services disconnected.

130. Upon information and belief, Defendants made additional false representations that
may be revealed through discovery.

131. The false representations outlined above were reasonably calculated to deceive.

132. The false representations outlined above were made with the intent to deceive.

133. The false representations outlined above were relied upon and did in fact deceive

the parties to whom the false representations were targeted.
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134. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ false misrepresentations, as

detailed in Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

XII. NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
TORTIOUS INTERFERENCE WITH CONTRACT
(All Defendants)

135. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
134 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

136. A valid contract for utility services existed between Plaintiff and Wilson Energy,
wherein Wilson Energy would provide continued utility service to Plaintiff for so long as
Plaintiff timely paid for the services provided.

137. Defendant Stuart, acting as an employee-agent of Defendant Five Brothers and
within the scope of his employment on behalf of Defendants SHCU and RoundPoint, knew of
the contract between Plaintiff and Wilson Energy.

138. Defendant Stuart intentionally induced Wilson Energy not to perform the contract,
by falsely representing himself to be an officer of the court and by demanding Plaintiff’s utility
services be terminated.

139. Defendant Stuart’s acts were done without justification.

140. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ tortious interference, as detailed in
Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

XII. TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:

DEFAMATION PER SE
(All Defendants)

141. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

140 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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142. Defendants made false and defamatory statements concerning the Plaintiff,
including at least: (i) Defendant Stuart, while acting within the scope of his employment for
Defendant Five Brothers and on behalf of Defendants RoundPoint and SHCU as those
Defendants’ authorized agent, claiming to Plaintiff’s neighbors that she was delinquent on her
mortgage; and (ii) Defendants RoundPoint and SHCU posting an Amended Notice of Sale in the
Wilson County Courthouse on 18 March 2013 claiming Plaintiff was delinquent on her

mortgage.

143. Upon information and belief, Defendants made additional false and defamatory

remarks that may be revealed through discovery.

144. Defendants’ known false and defamatory remarks were made with the intent to
defame Plaintiff.

145. Defendants’ known false and defamatory remarks were published to multiple third
parties, including to Plaintiff’s neighbors and to any passersby entering into the first floor of the
Wilson County Courthouse.

146. Defendants’ known false and defamatory remarks, claiming Plaintiff could not
properly attend to her most basic of financial obligations, tended to impeach Plaintiff in her
profession as a full-time business analyst for a well-known financial institution.

147. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ defamatory remarks, as detailed in
Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

XIV. ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:

INTENTIONAL INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS
(All Defendants)

148. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

147 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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149. Defendants intended their unlawful conduct to inflict emotional distress upon
Plaintiff, or Defendants knew or reasonably should have known infliction of emotional distress
was the likely result of their conduct.

150. Defendants’ conduct, in particular unlawfully locking a homeowner out of her
residence with no notice based on an illegitimate claim of authority and then ignoring her
numerous plaintive pleas to regain access, was extreme and outrageous so as to exceed all
bounds of civilized society.

151. Plaintiff suffered, and continues to suffer, severe emotional distress as detailed in
Paragraph 94 supra.

152. The Defendants’ extreme and outrageous conduct was the actual and proximate

cause of Plaintiff’s previously nonexistent emotional distress.

XV. TWELFTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
NEGLIGENT INFLICTION OF EMOTIONAL DISTRESS
(All Defendants)

In the alternative, to the extent the Court concludes Defendants’ infliction of emotional
distress upon Plaintiff was not intentional:

153. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
152 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

154. The Defendants engaged in negligent conduct, including seeking the foreclosure
sale of a home that was not in default and then unlawfully attempting two separate self-help
evictions of the homeowner.

155. It was reasonably foreseeable Defendants’ negligent conduct, turning the maxim “a
man’s home is his castle” on its head by invading Plaintiff’s “castle” without legal justification,

would cause severe emotional distress to the Plaintiff,
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156. Defendants’ negligent conduct did in fact cause severe emotional distress to

Plaintiff, as detailed in Paragraph 94 supra.

XVI. THIRTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
NEGLIGENT HIRING AND SUPERVISION
(Defendants SHCU, RoundPoint, and Five Brothers)

157. Plantiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
156 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

158. Each Defendant owed a separate and independent duty to Plaintiff to (i) properly
vet the agents each chose to hire for its interactions with Plaintiff and her property, and then
(1) ensuring those agents were properly supervised during the course of that interaction:
Defendant SHCU in permitting Defendant RoundPoint to service Plaintiff’s account, Defendant
RoundPoint in hiring Defendant Five Brothers to “secure the collateral [Plaintiff’s home],” and
Defendant Five Brothers in hiring Defendant Stuart to carry out its orders.

159. Each Defendant breached its respective duties to Plaintiff by hiring agents who
failed to demonstrate even minimum standards of competence, and then wholly failing to
supervise the incompetent agents chosen in any meaningful capacity whatsoever.

160. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ respective breaches, as detailed in
Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

XVII. FOURTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
VIOLATION OF THE NORTH CAROLINA UNFAIR AND
DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT

N.C. GEN. STAT. § 75-1.1
(All Defendants)

161. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

160 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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162. Defendants engaged in numerous unfair or deceptive acts, including but not limited
to: (i) refusing to abide by the 2010 loan modification schedule even after the homeowner had
complied with the schedule’s terms and government-backed records were furnished
demonstrating that compliance; (i) falsely claiming the 2010 foreclosure action had been abated
when in fact it had not; (7ii) conducting two foreclosure sales on a property that was not in
default; (iv) conducting said foreclosure sale after accepting $14,582.12 from a state agency
specifically to prevent such a sale; (v) defaming a homeowner to her neighbors and the public;
(vi) trespassing upon the homeowner’s land twice, breaking into her home twice, and locking her
out of it twice; (vii) ignoring the homeowner’s repeated desperate attempts to contact the
appropriate party to regain access to her home and belongings; and (viii) falsely claiming to be
an officer of the court in order to have the homeowner’s utility services terminated.

163. Each of the unfair or deceptive acts of the respective Defendants were conducted in
or affecting commerce.

164. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ various unfair or deceptive acts, as
detailed in Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

XVIII. FIFTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
VIOLATION OF THE NORTH CAROLINA COLLECTION AGENCY ACT

N.C. GEN. STAT. §§ 58-70-100, 58-70-110 & 58-70-115
(All Defendants)

165. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
164 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
166. The alleged mortgage obligation owed by Plaintiff is a debt within the meaning of

N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-90(3).

167. Plaintiff is a consumer within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 58-70-90(2).
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168. Defendants RoundPoint, Five Brothers, and Stuart are collection agencies within
the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. §§ 58-70-15 and 58-70-90(1), as detailed in Paragraphs 7, 10, and
14 supra.

169. Defendant SHCU, to the extent it acted as a principal served by the collection
agency Defendants above, vicariously functioned as a collection agency as a result.

170. Defendants have attempted to collect a debt (i) using conduct the natural
consequence of which is to oppress, harass, or abuse Plaintiff; (i7) using fraudulent, deceptive, or
misleading representations; and (/i) using practices that are unfair.

171. Such conduct has included, but is not limited to: (i) conducting two foreclosure
sales on a property that was not in default; (ii) conducting the second foreclosure sale after
accepting $14,582.12 from a state agency specifically to prevent such a sale; (iii) defaming
Plaintiff to her neighbors and the public; (iv) trespassing upon Plaintiff’s land twice, breaking
into her home twice, and locking her out of it without legal authority twice; (v) ignoring
Plaintiff’s repeated desperate attempts to contact the appropriate party to regain access to her
home and belongings; and (vi) falsely claiming to be an officer of the court in order to have
Plaintiff’s utility services terminated.

172. All of Defendants’ respective actions have been made in or affecting commerce.

173. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as detailed in
Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

XIX. SIXTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
VIOLATION OF THE NORTH CAROLINA DEBT COLLECTION ACT

N.C. GEN. STAT. §8§ 75-52, 75-54 & 75-55
(All Defendants)

In the alternative, to the extent the Court concludes (i) the conduct of Defendant SHCU

was of the type exclusively governed by the North Carolina Debt Collection Act, and/or (ii) the
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Defendants RoundPoint, Five Brothers, and Stuart are debt collectors rather than collection
agencies, and their conduct was similarly of the type exclusively governed by the NCDCA:

174.  Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1
through 173 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

175. The alleged mortgage obligation owed by Plaintiff is a debt within the meaning of
N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(2).

176. Plaintiff is a consumer within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(1).

177. Defendants are debt collectors within the meaning of N.C. Gen. Stat. § 75-50(3), as
detailed in Paragraphs 4, 7, 10, and 14 supra.

178. Defendants have attempted to collect a debt (i) using conduct the natural
consequence of which is to oppress, harass, or abuse Plaintiff; (ii) using fraudulent, deceptive, or
misleading representations; and (iii) using unconscionable means.

179. Such conduct has included, but is not limited to: (i) conducting two foreclosure
sales on a property that was not in default; (i7) conducting the second foreclosure sale after
accepting $14,582.12 from a state agency specifically to prevent such a sale; (7ii) defaming
Plaintiff to her neighbors and the public; (iv) trespassing upon Plaintiff’s land twice, breaking
into her home twice, and locking her out of it twice; (v) ignoring Plaintiff’s repeated desperate
attempts to contact the appropriate party to regain access to her home and belongings; and
(vi) falsely claiming to be an officer of the court in order to have Plaintiff’s utility services
terminated.

180. All of Defendants’ respective actions have been made in or affecting commerce.

181. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as detailed in

Paragraphs 93-94 supra.
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XX. SEVENTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT
15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq.
(Defendants RoundPoint, Five Brothers, and Stuart)

182. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
181 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

183. The alleged mortgage obligation owed by Plaintiff is a debt within the meaning of
15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5).

184. Plaintiff is a consumer within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(3).

185. Defendants are debt collectors within the meaning of 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6), as
detailed in Paragraphs 6, 9, and 13 supra.

186. The alleged debt owed by Plaintiff was in default at the time it was acquired by
Defendant RoundPoint, as detailed in Paragraph 33 supra.

187. Defendants have attempted to collect a debt (i) using conduct the natural
consequence of which is to harass, oppress, or abuse Plaintiff; (i) using false, deceptive, or
misleading representations; and (iii) using unfair practices.

188. Such conduct has included, but is not limited to: (i) conducting two foreclosure
sales on a property that was not in defauit; (ii) conducting the second foreclosure sale after
accepting $14,582.12 from a state agency specifically to prevent such a sale; (iii) defaming
Plaintiff to her neighbors and the public; (iv) trespassing upon Plaintiff’s land twice, breaking
into her home twice, and locking her out of it twice; (v) ignoring Plaintiff’s repeated desperate
attempts to contact the appropriate party to regain access to her home and belongings; and

(vi) falsely claiming to be an officer of the court in order to have Plaintiff’s utility services

terminated.
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189. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as detailed in

Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

XXI1. EIGHTEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
VIOLATION OF THE FEDERAL CIVIL RIGHTS ACT OF 1871
42 U.S.C. § 1983
(Defendants RoundPoint, Five Brothers, and Stuart)

190. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through
189 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.

191. Defendant RoundPoint, (i) in availing itself of this State’s foreclosure process —
functionally a replevin statute for real estate — as well as (i) in accepting a reinstatement
payment from this State via the NCHF A with a corresponding obligation to fully reinstate
Plaintiff’s mortgage, has so entangled its own conduct with the State as to be a person acting
under color of law within the meaning of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

192. Plaintiff has constitutionally protected property interests in her home and in
peaceably residing within that home unmolested by the Defendants in this action.

193. Defendant RoundPoint, separately as well as through its authorized agents
Detendant Five Brothers and Defendant Stuart, has subjected Plaintiff to the deprivation of those
property interests without procedural due process, namely by trespassing upon Plaintiff’s land
twice, breaking into her home twice, locking her out of said home twice, and causing her utility
service to be disconnected, all without legal authority and without providing to Plaintiff adequate

notice or an opportunity to be heard.

XXII. NINETEENTH CAUSE OF ACTION:
CIVIL CONSPIRACY
(All Defendants)

194. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through

193 of this Complaint as if fully set forth herein.
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195. The Defendants in this action entered into various agreements between themselves
relating to their respective interactions with Plaintiff and her property.

196. Said agreements were to perform unlawful acts, and/or lawful acts in an unlawful
manner, including but not limited to: (i) conducting two foreclosure sales on a property that was
not in default; (i) conducting the second foreclosure sale after accepting $14,582.12 from a state
agency specifically to prevent such a sale; (iii) defaming Plaintiff to her neighbors and the
public; (iv) trespassing upon Plaintiff’s land twice, breaking into her home twice, and locking her
out of it twice; (v) ignoring Plaintiff’s repeated desperate attempts to contact the appropriate
party to regain access to her home and belongings; and (vi) falsely claiming to be an officer of
the court in order to have Plaintiff’s utility services terminated.

197. Plaintiff was damaged as a result of Defendants’ unlawful conduct, as detailed in

Paragraphs 93-94 supra.

XXIIi. PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, based upon the foregoing, the Plaintiff respectfully prays that:
1. She have a trial by jury on all issues so triable;

2. The Court find the respective Defendants liable for each of the respective causes of

action outlined above;

3. The Defendants be permanently and forever enjoined from entering upon or into

Plaintiff’s land or home;

4. The Defendants be permanently and forever enjoined from again foreclosing on, or

attempting to foreclose on, Plaintiff’s home;
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